Avocado maturity: a review of harvest indices and how they relate to postharvest quality.

Jason Johnston HortResearch Ltd

Project Number: AV06014

AV06014

This report is published by Horticulture Australia Ltd to pass on information concerning horticultural research and development undertaken for the avocado industry.

The research contained in this report was funded by Horticulture Australia Ltd with the financial support of the avocado industry.

All expressions of opinion are not to be regarded as expressing the opinion of Horticulture Australia Ltd or any authority of the Australian Government.

The Company and the Australian Government accept no responsibility for any of the opinions or the accuracy of the information contained in this report and readers should rely upon their own enquiries in making decisions concerning their own interests.

ISBN 0 7341 1440 0

Published and distributed by: Horticultural Australia Ltd Level 1 50 Carrington Street Sydney NSW 2000 Telephone: (02) 8295 2300 Fax: (02) 8295 2399 E-Mail: horticulture@horticulture.com.au

© Copyright 2007



Avocado maturity: a review of harvest indices and the relationship with postharvest quality

Johnston J, Requejo-Jackman C, White A, Woolf A. October 2006

Report to Avocados Australia and Horticulture Australia Limited

HortResearch Client Report No. 20621 HortResearch Contract No. 21268

Johnston J, Requejo-Jackman C, White A, Woolf A. The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd Mt Albert Research Centre Private Bag 92169 Auckland Mail Centre Auckland 1142 NEW ZEALAND Tel: +64-9-815 4200 Fax: +64-9-815 4201

DISCLAIMER

Unless agreed otherwise, HortResearch does not give any prediction, warranty or assurance in relation to the accuracy of or fitness for any particular use or application of, any information or scientific or other result contained in this report. Neither HortResearch nor any of its employees shall be liable for any cost (including legal costs), claim, liability, loss, damage, injury or the like, which may be suffered or incurred as a direct or indirect result of the reliance by any person on any information contained in this report.

© COPYRIGHT (2006) The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd, Private Bag 92 169, Auckland Mail Centre, Auckland 1142, New Zealand. All Rights Reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, transmitted, reported, or copied in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical or otherwise without written permission of the copyright owner. Information contained in this publication is confidential and is not to be disclosed in any form to any party without the prior approval in writing of the Chief Executive Officer, The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd, Private Bag 92 169, Auckland Mail Centre, Auckland 1142, New Zealand.

LIMITED PROTECTION

This report may be reproduced in full, but not in part, without prior consent of the author or of the Chief Executive Officer, The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd, Private Bag 92 169, Auckland Mail Centre, Auckland 1142, New Zealand.

This report has been prepared by The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd (HortResearch), which has its Head Office at 120 Mt Albert Rd, Mt Albert, AUCKLAND. This report has been approved by:

Research Scientist

Date: 16 October 2006

Group Leader, Quality Systems

Date: 16 October 2006

CONTENTS

Executive summary	1
Introduction	5
Avocado maturation on the tree	6
Avocado maturity and consumer acceptability	. 10
Maturity and sensory perception of eating quality	. 10
Harvest date	. 10
Oil content and dry matter - California	. 11
Oil content and dry matter - Australia	. 13
Understanding consumer preferences for texture and taste	. 13
Maturity effects on disorders, rots, ripening time and storage potential	. 14
Ripening characteristics	. 14
Rots	15
Disorders	. 15
Physical damage	. 17
Other pre- and postharvest factors	. 17
Commercial harvest indices and standards	18
Maturity standards around the world	18
Sources of variation in dry matter and implications for picking strategies	21
Important features of harvest indices and standards	. 23
Market implications of thresholds used in maturity standards	24
Technologies for assessing maturity	26
Dry matter	26
Oil content	20
	27
Non-destructive assessments	28
Conclusions	. 30
Recommendations	. 31
References	. 33
Acknowledgements	38

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Avocado maturity: a review of harvest indices and the relationship with postharvest quality

Report to Avocados Australia and Horticulture Australia Limited

Johnston J, Requejo-Jackman C, White A, Woolf A

October 2006

The Australian avocado industry is aiming to improve fruit quality so that 90% of fruit meets or exceeds consumer expectations by 2010. Maturity is one factor that could influence the ability to meet this target. This report reviews the physiological changes in the fruit during maturation, the influence of maturity on fruit quality, maturity standards in the main avocado producing countries, and technologies for assessing maturity. This information could then be used by key industry groups to develop maturity-based strategies for improving fruit quality.

Biological changes during maturation

Avocados undergo a number of changes in the flesh, skin and seed during maturation. Most harvest indices are based on the increase in flesh oil content that occurs during maturation and its close association with dry matter. However, these indices are not related to the physiological changes required for the fruit to initiate ripening, and merely reflect the accumulation of a storage product that is more affected by environmental and cultural conditions during growth. Avocados currently lack a harvest index that relates to the physiological state of being competent to ripen, and could explain why sensory quality and ripening behaviour are difficult to predict. Sugars are one component of avocado that show potential for developing more physiologically-based harvest indices, as these sugars are suggested to prevent ripening on the tree, and to regulate the initiation of ripening after harvest. Further research is required to confirm the physiological roles of these sugars in the maturation and ripening process.

Influence of maturity on fruit quality

Maturity has a strong influence on the sensory acceptability, ripening characteristics, and incidence of rots and disorders in avocados. Immature fruit are often described as rubbery, overly soft, green and watery. The sensory acceptability of the fruit improves during the harvest season until the fruit reach an overmature stage of maturity, at which stage acceptability declines from off-flavours and rancidity. Despite the link between harvest date and sensory acceptability, the current maturity indices of dry matter and oil content are only moderately associated with sensory quality. Thus the current maturity standards only estimate the minimum maturity for sensory acceptability, and are not reliable for excluding immature or overmature fruit from the marketplace.

Maturity also influences the ripening characteristics of the fruit, with early season fruit often ripening at slower rates than later harvested fruit, making early season fruit susceptible to rots. Early harvest fruit are also susceptible to developing external chilling injury, shrivel, stringiness, vascular browning and mesocarp discolouration. Late harvest fruit also have quality problems associated with premature softening, vascular browning, mesocarp discolouration, body rots and stem end rots. Many of these maturity related disorders are exacerbated by long-term storage (> \cong 4 weeks).

Maturity standards around the world

The setting and enforcement of a minimum maturity standard is considered important in many countries to ensure that the reputation of the industry is not tarnished by selling grossly immature fruit to early season markets offering premium prices. Thus, the minimum maturity standard needs to be high enough to exclude a large proportion of immature fruit, but not so high that it precludes growers from selling genuinely palatable fruit. The most widely used harvest index around the world is dry matter, with most countries adopting the Californian minimum dry matter standard of 20.8% for 'Hass'. This standard is also recommended in Australia, although its effectiveness for removing fruit with poor sensory quality from the marketplace is questionable. Some countries have adopted higher minimum dry matter standards of 24 and 25% to improve sensory quality, to reduce the risk of developing rots and disorders during long-term storage, or to account for fruit grown in areas of drought that typically have lower moisture content. Most countries base the maturity assessment on a mean value for a batch of fruit, while New Zealand has both a mean batch value and stipulate that 18/20 fruit exceed a specified lower limit. This approach is one step that the Australian industry could implement to reduce the risk of supplying batches of early season fruit that contain unacceptably high numbers of immature fruit. Florida, USA, is one of the few production areas that does not use dry matter; instead, maturity is managed through picking dates and fruit size, where fruit can only be harvested after a specified release date and only if they meet a certain size threshold. California also uses a specified release date, where fruit are only harvested before this date if the minimum dry matter standard is met.

Technologies for assessing maturity

Several technologies have been developed and implemented to assess avocado maturity. Dry matter is favoured over oil content as it is faster, safer (no chemical solvents), cheaper and more suited to growers/packhouses for measuring maturity. The recently developed Hofshi coring machine has simplified the process for sampling avocado tissue for dry matter assessment. Near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy and nuclear magnetic resonance are two non-destructive technologies that show potential for on-line sorting of fruit in packhouses to produce lines of fruit with a more uniform maturity. NIR technology has also advanced sufficiently to produce portable devices (NIRGUN) which potentially could be used by growers to monitor maturity non-destructively within orchards and orchard blocks to facilitate more targeted picking strategies.

Key recommendations

- Determine the main causes of poor quality in the marketplace. If these problems are related to maturity, then it needs to be established if this is because of non-compliance of current maturity standards or because the current standards are inadequate
- Determine the components of quality that are important to consumers and influence purchasing behaviour
- Review the minimum maturity standard (21%) in the light of the significantly higher standards in other countries, and in particular the suggested move in California from 20.8% to 23%
- In the medium term, develop new harvest indices that determine immaturity and overmaturity more accurately and reliably, so that growers and marketers can more confidently supply acceptable quality fruit to early and late season markets.

Conclusions

This report demonstrates that maturity affects the postharvest quality of avocados. However, it remains to be established if maturity is a key cause of poor quality in Australian markets, or if it is caused by other pre- and postharvest factors. This report also highlights that the current minimum dry matter standard has a number of limitations, especially in prediction of the sensory quality of avocados. Despite these limitations, the dry matter standard is better than no standard, and its utilisation within industry should continually be refined and evaluated until new maturity standards are developed.

For further information please contact:

Jason Johnston The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd Mt Albert Research Centre Private Bag 92169 Auckland Mail Centre Auckland 1142 NEW ZEALAND Tel: +64-9-815 4200 Fax: +64-9-815 4201 Email JJohnston@hortresearch.co.nz

INTRODUCTION

The Australian avocado industry currently comprises c. 1300 growers, producing c. 36,000 tonnes of fruit, with 70% of production being in Queensland (Avocados-Australia 2005). This industry represents c. 2% of world avocado production, and contributes less than 0.2% of the volume of avocados traded in international markets (Avocados-Australia 2005). Thus, the industry has a strong reliance on the domestic market, with less than 500 tonnes exported annually to South-East Asia, the Middle East and New Zealand (Avocados-Australia 2005). 'Hass' is the main cultivar, comprising 75% of production (www.avosource.com), with the other main cultivars being 'Shepard', 'Reed', 'Sharwil', 'Fuerte' and 'Wurtz' (Avocados-Australia 2005). Climatic differences across states and regions at any one time of the year, along with varietal diversity, enable avocados to be produced year-round in Australia, with the main production volume occurring between March and November (www.avocado.org.au). To ensure a successful future, Avocados Australia in conjunction with Horticulture Australia have devised a strategic plan to 2010, with one of the key aspirations being to improve fruit quality so that 90% of fruit meets or exceeds consumers expectations in target markets (Avocados-Australia 2005). While fruit quality is affected by many pre- and postharvest factors, maturity is one area that has been considered for improvement.

Maturity has two definitions, the first being horticultural maturity where the fruit is harvested at a stage of development that will allow the fruit to meet consumer requirements (ripen to an acceptable taste and overall quality), and the second being physiological maturity where the fruit will continue to physiologically develop (ripen for seed dispersal) after harvest (Watada et al. 1984). Avocados are unique in that they do not ripen while attached to the tree, which means the fruit can be "tree-stored" to meet supply chain requirements over an extended period of time. Despite this non-ripening characteristic, the fruit continue to undergo several biological changes which alter the ripening patterns and susceptibility to develop rots and disorders during postharvest handling. This extended period of no-tree maturation is compounded by the propensity for avocados to have a long period of fruit set, which can result in a large mixture of maturity at any one harvest. This report provides a detailed review of avocado maturity, covering four main themes:

- 1. The key biological changes that occur during on-tree maturation of avocados
- 2. The effect of maturity on fruit quality, including sensory acceptability and the incidence of defects from rots, disorders, and physical damage. This includes research from around the world, including Australia
- 3. The main maturity standards in Australia and different parts of the world. Discussion includes how robust the maturity standards are for determining maturity and devising picking strategies, how variable the harvest indices are for fruit from different cultivars, orchards and regions, any advantages or disadvantages of particular maturity standards, and what implications these standards have for markets
- 4. Technologies for assessing maturity, and any advantages or disadvantages of these technologies. Destructive and non-destructive technologies will be discussed.

The overall aim of this report is to review the importance of maturity on fruit quality and to provide recommendations that Avocados Australia and Horticulture Australia Limited can use to produce new maturity management strategies for improving fruit quality.

AVOCADO MATURATION ON THE TREE

Fruits typically have three broad stages of development, the first being growth, the second maturation, and the third ripening and senescence. Maturation is defined as "the stage of development leading to the attainment of physiological or horticultural maturity" (Watada et al. 1984). Physiological maturity is obtained when the fruit (or other plant organ) will continue to develop after harvest, while horticultural maturity occurs when the fruit is sufficiently developed to produce the desired characteristics for consumers (Watada et al. 1984). It is important to note that although very specific values are placed on horticultural maturity (e.g. >20.8% dry matter etc.), the nature of maturity is relatively "grey" in that decisions on the value chosen are made for a range of reasons. These may be influenced by a range of factors including:

- The market window opportunity and threats from competitors
- Storage requirements and duration
- The need for ethylene ripening treatments
- Historical factors such as specific quality problems encountered in the past
- The requirement to meet standards in target markets.

Fruit maturation is often marked by the cessation of growth process and the physiological attainment of being competent to ripen. The distinction between the different phases of development is unclear in avocados, since this fruit has two characteristics that do not occur in many other fruits. The first is that cell division proceeds throughout the growth curve for avocados (Schroeder 1985), yet in fruits such as apples and kiwifruit, cell division only occurs during the early stages of growth. This means that the increase in fruit size in avocados is attributed to cell division and cell expansion, while in apples and kiwifruit the growth is largely driven by cell expansion. The continuation of cell division through the late stages of growth until the time of harvest makes it difficult to determine if and when the growth phase of development ceases. The second feature of avocados is that the fruit will not ripen until harvested. This makes it difficult to determine when tree-attached fruit are competent to ripen, whereas in other fruits many of the ripening pathways are initiated on the tree and can be monitored using ripening-related harvest indices (i.e. softening, skin colour change, breakdown of starch to sugars). This lack of on-tree ripening has meant that the harvest indices developed for avocados are dominated by processes associated with growth rather than with ripening. Oil content, the basis of the main harvest indices in avocado, is considered by some to be a storage product that reflects conditions during growth rather than fruit development (Bean 1956). Currently there are no harvest indices utilised for avocados that reflect the physiological attainment of being competent to ripen.

Avocado fruit undergo a number of changes during the maturation phase of development (Table 1). For intact fruit there is a trend for reduced ethylene production, respiration, and density during maturation (Stahl 1933; Hatton & Campbell 1959; Zauberman & Schiffmann-Nadel 1972; Akamine & Goo 1973). The flesh undergoes a number of compositional changes during maturation, with increased total oil content and decreased soluble sugar content being the most pronounced changes (Hodgkin 1939; Kikuta & Erickson 1968; Liu et al. 1999). Other significant changes include decreased calcium and magnesium content, and increased total phenolic content (Cutting et al. 1992). These components are linked to the storage potential of the fruit, with calcium important for reducing the incidence of premature softening and disorders, while phenolics provide the chemical precursors for browning reactions (Cutting et al. 1992; Thorp et al. 1997). Attributes used to assess maturity in other

fruits, such as firmness and starch content, do not change appreciably during avocado maturation (Hatton & Campbell 1959; Liu et al. 1999).

The skin and seed also undergo significant changes during maturation (Table 2). For the seed, its mass as a proportion of the whole fruit increases, there is an accumulation of starch, sugars and DM, and there is decline in water content and coat thickness (Stahl 1933; Bean 1956; Erickson 1966; Liu et al. 1999). The seed coat can also turn from white to brown, although the timing of this colour change can be variable (Hatton & Campbell 1959; Dool & Wolstenholme 1983). For the skin, there is a decrease in mass as a proportion of the whole fruit, and an increase in wax deposition and lenticel corking during maturation (Hatton & Campbell 1959; Erickson & Porter 1966). Skin colour changes are observed "late season" in New Zealand where the skin takes on a black appearance, the pigments associated with this being the same as those observed during ripening (Cox et al. 2004). Colouration tends to occur on the sun exposed side of the fruit.

The carbohydrate status of avocados has not received as much attention as oil content, which is probably because oil is the dominant component in mature fruit. Oil content and composition (fatty acid profile) does not change during storage or ripening (Eaks 1990), suggesting fatty acid metabolism is not a key metabolite for ripening. However, the area of carbohydrates is starting to receive more attention, and significant changes in carbohydrate composition occur in the flesh and seed during all stages of development (Liu et al. 1999). Sugars are considered important precursors for oil development in the flesh and for starch accumulation in the seed. They are also thought to provide energy for fruit growth during the early stages of development and for oil accumulation in the later stages of development (Liu et al. 1999). Mannoheptulose, one of the main sugars in avocados, is thought to be a ripening inhibitor and its continual supply during growth and maturation may explain why ripening does not occur on the tree (Liu et al. 2002). It is also suggested that these sugars could be used to predict the storage potential of avocados (Bertling & Bower 2005). Given that these sugars seem to be more closely related to ripening competence than oils, research on their value as harvest indices is merited.

Table 1. Changes during matu	iration for intact avocado fruit an	nd in the flesh component.	
Component	Cultivar	Change during maturation	Reference
		Whole fruit	
Ethylene production	Not specified	Decrease	(Akamine & Goo 1973)
Respiration	'Fuerte'	Decrease	(Zauberman & Schiffmann-Nadel 1972;
			Akamine & Goo 1973)
Density	Several cultivars including	Decrease, but can be variable during the	(Stahl 1933; Hatton & Campbell 1959; Clark
	'Hass'	season and across cultivars	et al. 2006)
		Flesh	
Total oil	Several cultivars including	Increase, but can reach a plateau or	(Hodgkin 1939; Kikuta & Erickson 1968;
	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	decrease late in season	Lee et al. 1983; Eaks 1990; Hofman et al. 2000)
Saturated fatty acids	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	Small increase (fresh weight basis)	(Kikuta & Erickson 1968; Eaks 1990)
Monounsaturated fatty acids	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	Large increase (fresh weight basis)	(Kikuta & Erickson 1968; Eaks 1990)
Polyunsaturated fatty acids	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	Small increase (fresh weight basis)	(Kikuta & Erickson 1968; Eaks 1990)
Dry matter	Several cultivars including	Increase, can reach a plateau or decrease	(Lee et al. 1983; Hofman et al. 2000)
	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	late in season	
Colour	Antillean and Guatemalan	No change	(Hatton & Campbell 1959)
	cultivars		
Cell number	'Fuerte'	Increase	(Schroeder 1953)
Mass % of total fruit	Antillean and Guatemalan	No change	(Stahl 1933)
	cultivars		
Firmness	Antillean and Guatemalan	No change	(Hatton & Campbell 1959)
Cell wall modifying enzymes	cuiu vai s 'Fuerte'	Decrease. can he variable	(Barmore 1976: Kaiser et al. 1996)
Starch	'Hass'	No change	(Liu et al. 1999)
Sugars	'Hass'	Decrease (dry weight basis), some	(Liu et al. 1999)
		variation in this trend between individual	
		sugars	
Protein	Antillean and Guatemalan cultivars	Increase, can be variable	(Stahl 1933)
Polyphenol oxidase	'Fuerte'	Increase, particularly in late season fruit	(Bower 1988; Cutting et al. 1988)
Phenolics	'Pinkerton' and 'Fuerte'	Increase, particularly in late season fruit	(Cutting et al. 1992; Van Rooyen & Bower 2006)
Calcium and magnesium	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	Decrease	Cutting et al. 1992; Thorp et al. 1997)

 \odot The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd 2006

 ∞

Table 2. Changes du	ing maturation for the sk	in and seed components in avocado.	
Component	Cultivar	Change during maturation	Reference
		Seed	
Respiration	'Fuerte'	Decrease	(Zauberman & Schiffmann-Nadel
Mass % of total fruit	Antillean and Guatemalan cultivare	Increase	(Stahl 1933)
Coat colour	Several cultivars including 'Fuerte'	Generally changes from white to brown, but can be variable as some immature fruit have brown seeds while more mature fruits can have white seeds	(Hatton & Campbell 1959; Dool & Wolstenholme 1983)
Dry matter	'Hass'	Increase	(Liu et al. 1999)
Coat thickness	'Fuerte'	Decrease	(Erickson 1966)
Coat moisture	'Fuerte'	Decrease	(Erickson 1966)
Water potential	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	Decrease	(Kalala et al. 2005)
Starch	'Hass'	Increase	(Bean 1956; Liu et al. 1999)
Sugars	'Hass'	Decrease (dry weight basis), increase (fresh weight basis), some variation in this trend between individual sugars	(Liu et al. 1999)
		Skin	
Mass % of total fruit	Antillean and	Decrease	(Stahl 1933)
	Guatemalan cultivars		
Cuticle wax	'Hass' and 'Fuerte'	Increase	(Erickson & Porter 1966)
Lenticel corking	Antillean and Guatemalan cultivars	Increase, can be variable	(Hatton & Campbell 1959)
Sugars	'Hass'	Decrease (dry weight basis), increase (fresh weight basis), some variation in this trend between individual sugars	(Liu et al. 1999)
Starch	'Hass'	No change	(Liu et al. 1999)

6

AVOCADO MATURITY AND CONSUMER ACCEPTABILITY

Maturity has a strong influence on many aspects of avocado quality. The following sections review how maturity affects the eating quality of avocados and the incidence of defects such as rots, disorders and physical damage.

MATURITY AND SENSORY PERCEPTION OF EATING QUALITY

Pioneering research in California showed that the palatability of avocados improves during the harvest season and that this improvement is associated with the accumulation of oil during growth and maturation (Hodgkin 1928; Christie 1939; Hodgkin 1939). The following sections highlight the association between sensory quality and factors such as harvest date, oil content and dry matter (DM).

Harvest date

Harvest date is known to affect the sensory acceptability of avocados, especially for early and late season fruit (Table 3). Immature fruit from California and Florida often have an unacceptable texture (watery, too soft, rubbery) and flavour (green, watery, slightly bitter), while fruit harvested later in the season have a more acceptable creamy texture and nutty flavour (Harding 1954; Lee et al. 1983). Acceptability increases with harvest date until the fruit become overmature, at which point the fruit can suffer from rancidity and off-flavours (Hodgkin 1939; Erickson et al. 1970-71). These effects of harvest date on acceptability are supported by sensory studies in Australia, where sensory acceptability (texture, flavour and colour) for several cultivars was shown to increase with harvest date from March to October, with the greatest variability in acceptability occurring in early season fruit (Lewis et al. 1979; Spraggon et al. 1989). This study also showed that there can be significant variation in acceptability for different longitudinal sections within the same fruit, and that future studies need to consider this variation when relating harvest indices to sensory quality. These studies all clearly show that the harvest season needs to be carefully managed to avoid maturity-related sensory problems in the marketplace.

Factor	Early season fruit	Late season fruit	Reference
Texture	Rubbery texture, uneven		(Harding 1954; Lee et al.
	ripening, too soft,		1983; Pak et al. 2003)
	stringiness		
Flavour	Watery, green, slightly	Rancidity, off-	(Hodgkin 1939; Harding
	bitter	flavours	1954; Erickson et al. 1970-
			71; Lee et al. 1983)
Ripening	Inter-fruit variability in	Premature	(Cutting & Wolstenholme
behaviour	ripening rates and skin	softening	1991, 1992; Pak et al.
	colour resulting in trays		2003)
	with a "checkerboarding"		
	appearance		
Rots	Stem end rots	Stem end rots and	(Hodgkin 1939; Erickson
		body rots	et al. 1970-71; Thorp et al.
			1997; Hofman et al. 2000;
			Dixon et al. 2003)
Physiological	Vascular browning,	Vascular	(Hodgkin 1939; Bower
disorders	mesocarp discolouration,	browning,	1988; Vorster et al. 1989;
	external chilling injury,	mesocarp	Cutting & Wolstenholme
	shrivel	discolouration,	1991, 1992; Hofman et al.
		seed sprouting	2000; Woolf et al. 2005;
			Van Rooyen & Bower
			2006)

Table 3. Problems associated with early and late season avocado fruit.

Oil content and dry matter - California

Given the influence of harvest date on the palatability and acceptability of avocados, considerable research has been attempted to identify the appropriate maturity indices to avoid harvesting immature fruit. Oil content, and more latterly DM, are the main harvest indices used commercially to assess the maturity of the fruit. However, despite DM and oil accumulation being closely related to the growth of the fruit, it has been difficult to predict sensory responses routinely according to DM and oil content, especially when comparing cultivars, growing regions and seasons.

The California Avocado Standardization Bill was established in 1925 to make it illegal to sell immature avocados. An oil content of 8% was decided as the state-wide minimum maturity standard, based on original findings that oil content increases during fruit development (Hodgkin 1939). However, no sensory studies were used to establish this threshold (Lee et al. 1983). The decision for this oil threshold was designed more to protect consumers from purchasing extremely immature fruit, such as those sold as a result of windfall, rather than to provide a basis for improved palatability. It was also thought that a minimum maturity standard for each cultivar would be too complicated, and that 8% oil is low enough to accommodate most cultivars (Christie 1939). The relationship between palatability and oil content was explored further, with palatability shown to increase with increased oil content for a range of cultivars (Hodgkin 1939). This relationship was exploited to create the Calavo brand for high quality avocados, using a much higher minimum oil content of 12-14% for 'Fuerte' (Hodgkin 1939). Further sensory studies on Californian fruit confirmed that the minimum oil content for acceptable eating quality varies considerably across cultivars (8.7% for 'Bacon', 9.0% for 'Pinkerton', 10.0% for 'Fuerte', 10.3% for 'Zutano' and 11.2% for 'Hass') and regions ('Hass'; 9.1% to 14.5%) (Lee et al. 1983). Regional differences within California and across the United States were also demonstrated for the relationship between

acceptability and minimum oil content (Lee & Coggins 1982a). These results suggest that the original threshold in the California Avocado Standardization Bill was not appropriate for determining minimum maturity according to taste (Hodgkin 1928; Lee et al. 1983).

Because the techniques for measuring oil content of avocado are difficult and time consuming, DM content was developed as a more rapid and low-technology alternative for assessing maturity. Strong correlations (r = 0.96) were found between DM and oil content (Lee et al. 1983), and further studies determined the minimum acceptable DM for a range of cultivars in California (Ranney et al. 1992). Dry matter accumulation was shown to be variable across seasons, but not from different regions of California. One state-wide minimum maturity standard was suggested, and based on results from a sensory panel a minimum DM of 21.6% was recommended for 'Hass' (Ranney et al. 1992). This is contrary to results in Australia, New Zealand and South Africa, where there are strong regional differences in the rate of DM accumulation (McOnie & Wolstenholme 1982; Thorp et al. 1997; Marques et al. 2006), and different minimum standards are required in South Africa for drought-prone regions (McOnie & Wolstenholme 1982; Mans et al. 1995). The minimum of 21.6% DM for 'Hass' corresponds to an oil content of c. 10.8%, which is close to the 11.2% minimum oil content suggested in earlier sensory studies (Lee et al. 1983). The Californian Avocado Standardization Bill was modified based on these studies, with a new minimum DM of 20.8% established for 'Hass'. Later studies on Californian 'Hass' showed that batches of fruit with a mean DM of 20.8% can contain an unacceptable number of fruit with poor sensory appeal, and that a higher batch average of 23% DM may be required to improve the overall perception of a line of fruit (Figure 1) (Arpaia 2003). This study also suggested that there is sufficient sensory evidence to re-evaluate and to increase the minimum standard of 20.8% for Californian 'Hass'.



Figure 1. Sensory scores for Californian 'Hass' with different dry matter contents (Figure from Arpaia 2003). Fruit were rated on a hedonic scale of: 1 = dislike extremely, 4 = dislike slightly, 5 = neither like nor dislike, 6 = like slightly and 9 = like extremely.

Oil content and dry matter - Australia

The first maturity standards were introduced in Queensland in 1966 based on sensory studies for several cultivars (Hope 1963; Lewis 1978). A standard of 15% oil was established for 'Fuerte', 'Edranol', 'Zutano' and 'Rincon', and 10% oil established for all other cultivars, despite the sensory recommendation of 15% oil for 'Hass' (Hope 1963; Lewis 1978). In 1979 minimum standards were established Australia-wide, moving away from oil content to a minimum DM of 21% (Morris & O'Brien 1980). This was based on a reasonably strong correlation between oil content and DM (r = 0.83 for 'Hass', 0.87 for 'Fuerte'), and likewise a similarly strong correlation between these two variables and harvest date (r = 0.80-0.89 for 'Hass', 0.83-0.92 for 'Fuerte') (Brown 1984). The sensory acceptability of 'Fuerte' was also strongly correlated with harvest date (r = 0.79) and oil content (r = 0.72-0.75), while a weaker relationship occurred for 'Hass' when sensory acceptability was correlated to harvest date (r = 0.64-0.72) and oil content (r = 0.54-0.58) (Brown 1984). However, this study did not report some data that are important for interpreting the robustness of the conclusions. Firstly, no direct correlations between DM and sensory acceptability were reported; the only relationships reported were with harvest date and oil content. This means that the correlation between acceptability and DM is unknown for this study and could be weaker or stronger than those reported for oil content. Secondly, graphs for these correlations were not presented, making it difficult to determine the range of DM values studied, the variation in sensory responses for each DM content, and if the correlation was biased by one or two extreme outliers in DM content. Thirdly, while the mean acceptability values were reported for each cultivar at 21% DM, there was no indication of the variation around this average both for acceptability and for DM. In other words, how many of the fruit in the sample were rated unacceptable at 21% DM, and what was the true range of DM contents tested by the sensory panel? Despite the sensory limitations of this study, it successfully determined that a minimum DM of 21% was adequate for eliminating immaturity related disorders such as shrivel and flesh blackening (Brown 1984).

Given the unclear relationship between DM and sensory acceptability, further studies were performed on fruit (mainly 'Fuerte') sourced from the Brisbane and Sydney markets, to determine if there were any sensory merits in increasing the minimum standard to 24%. This study concluded that 21% was suitable for excluding the lowest eating quality fruit (Spraggon et al. 1989), but did have some limitations in that DM was assessed after delivery to the markets and not at harvest. Postharvest conditions immediately after harvest can affect the DM content of the fruit, particularly conditions that affect water loss and respiration rate (Hofman & Jobin-Decor 1999; Clark et al. 2006). This is compounded by water loss and respiration rates, both being strongly influenced by harvest date (Zauberman & Schiffmann-Nadel 1972; Cutting & Wolstenholme 1992). Thus, the relationship between DM and eating quality in this study was difficult to interpret relative to DM measures at harvest. A minimum DM of 21% is currently recommended for all cultivars, which equates to an oil content of c. 12% for 'Fuerte' and 8.4% for 'Hass' (Brown 1984). This minimum oil content is considerably lower than the 15% oil content originally suggested for palatability of 'Hass' grown in Australia (Hope 1963).

Understanding consumer preferences for texture and taste

Sensory studies in Australia and California suggest that the relationship between sensory attributes and harvest indices such as oil content and DM are variable and not clear-cut. These indices only provide a gross estimate of when batches of fruit become palatable during maturation. There is evidence that some fruit within a batch of fruit are palatable at DM contents less than 21%, while others are not palatable until well after 21% (Spraggon et al. 1989; Arpaia 2003). These results suggest that DM and oil content accumulation are only

associated with, and are not the biological drivers for sensory acceptability in avocados. This relationship is also apparent when comparing cultivars that have evolved from different geographical origins, where cultivars that typically have low oil content (i.e. Antillean cultivars) can easily surpass higher oil content cultivars for sensory acceptability (Harding 1954). This lack of understanding of the biological basis for taste and palatability provides a clear disadvantage to growers wanting to exploit the high prices of early-season markets, when their fruit may be genuinely palatable, yet are regarded as too immature to harvest according to the current industry minimum standard. In addition, there is currently no basis for growers to optimise orchard management practices to produce high taste fruit, nor is there scope to differentiate their product on the basis of taste from other suppliers in the marketplace. Thus, new research is required to elucidate the biological drivers of taste and texture in avocados, so that alternative harvest indices can be developed that predict more accurately the sensory quality of fruit in the marketplace.

Most sensory studies to date have used trained panels to determine avocado acceptability, which is unusual in that acceptability is normally determined by consumer panels. The danger of using a trained panel for an acceptability study is that this panel may detect subtle differences that may not be detected, or may not be considered important by consumers. Despite this limitation, most minimum maturity standards are based on results from trained panels. Trained panels are more useful for defining the texture and flavour characteristics of fruit so that the biological basis for these characteristics can be better understood, while consumer panels are more effective at understanding purchasing behaviour and the aspects of quality that drive purchasing decisions. The other aspect of sensory quality needing improvement is to better understand the characteristic components of flavour, aftertaste, odour and texture, and then match these descriptors to market preferences. This area of sensory science has recently received some attention in New Zealand, where studies have identified some of the key sensory descriptors for avocados (Table 4) and how these descriptors change during maturation and ripening.

Attribute	Descriptors
Flavour	Woody pine, floral, banana, citrus, canned pea, savoury, bitter
Odour	Hay (dried grass note), green (grass or green vegetable), nutty
Aftertaste	Chemical, metallic, bitter, umami
Texture	Firmness, oil release, water release, rate of breakdown, particle presence,
	fibrousness

Table 4. Sensory descriptors of avocados (White et al. unpublished data).

MATURITY EFFECTS ON DISORDERS, ROTS, RIPENING TIME AND STORAGE POTENTIAL

The sensory acceptability of avocados is not the only aspect of avocado quality that can be influenced by maturity. The ripening rate, incidence of disorders and rots, and long-term storage potential of the fruit can all be affected by maturity at harvest. Each of these quality attributes will be reviewed separately below, as well as any inter-relations between attributes.

Ripening characteristics

The main characteristics of ripening affected by maturity are the rate of softening and incidence of uneven ripening. 'Fuerte' and 'Hass' avocados tend to ripen more rapidly (Eaks 1966; Cutting & Wolstenholme 1991, 1992) and become more responsive to ethylene as the harvest season progresses (Eaks 1966; Adato & Gazit 1974). This effect of harvest date on

ripening rate is more pronounced in the first half of the harvest season, with minor or no changes in ripening rate observed in fruit harvested during the later part of the season (Cutting & Wolstenholme 1991, 1992; Thorp et al. 1997; Hofman et al. 2000). The slower ripening rate of fruit harvested early in the season can have detrimental impacts on other aspects of quality, such as increased incidence of postharvest rots (Spraggon et al. 1989; Dixon et al. 2003). Immature fruit from 'Fuerte' are also susceptible to uneven ripening, a disorder that results in fruit with overly soft distal ends and firm tissue elsewhere (Mans et al. 1995), while other cultivars may soften to an unacceptable rubbery texture. For overmature fruit the ripening rate can be rapid, which can be problematic if extended periods of storage and shelf-life are required before sale.

Rots

Stem-end rots and body rots develop during ripening and are often detected only in dark skinned cultivars (i.e. 'Hass') once the fruit is cut for consumption. This feature of rot development makes it difficult for consumers to know at the time of purchase which fruit will be free from rots and ripen to edible quality. Australian consumers are estimated to discard 30-40% of avocado purchases because of unacceptable internal quality, and often view avocados as a "hit and miss" purchase (Mason 2005). Fruit with slow ripening rates are more susceptible to developing rots, which can be problematic for early season fruit, or for fruit in storage at low temperatures where ripening may be initiated and progress at a slow rate (Dixon et al. 2003). Overmaturity also increases the susceptibility of fruit to develop rots during ripening (Hodgkin 1939; Erickson et al. 1970-71). The incidence of body rots in 'Hass' can increase from <1% to 60% from October to December in Australia (Hofman et al. 2000).

Disorders

Avocados are susceptible to several internal and external disorders that influence consumer perception of quality (Figure 2). Immature fruit are susceptible to shrivelling during softening (Hatton et al. 1964; Mans et al. 1995), and fruit harvested early in the season are more susceptible to external chilling injury during coolstorage (Vorster et al. 1989). Early harvest fruit can also be susceptible to mesocarp discolouration, also known as diffuse flesh discolouration or grey pulp, although susceptibility to this disorder is most pronounced in late season fruit for most cultivars (Bower 1988; Cutting & Wolstenholme 1991, 1992; Mans et al. 1995; Woolf et al. 2005; Van Rooyen & Bower 2006). Vascular browning in South African 'Fuerte' and New Zealand 'Hass' occurs in early and late season fruit during coolstorage (Cutting & Wolstenholme 1991, 1992; Woolf et al. 2005). For Australian 'Hass', the incidence of vascular browning and diffuse flesh discoloration can increase from <5% to 20% when harvests are extended from October to December (Hofman et al. 2000). Another undesirable aspect of overmaturity is that these fruit may contain sprouted seeds (Hodgkin 1939). The predisposition to and expression of many of these maturity related disorders are also affected by several pre- and postharvest factors, with many of these disorders exacerbated by long-term (> \cong 4 weeks) storage (Bower 1988; Woolf et al. 2005).



Discrete patches (may be caused by chilling injury)



Body rot





Flesh bruising



Vascular browning



Stem end rotDiffuse flesh discolourationFigure 2.Common avocado disorders (photos from White et al. 2005, 2006).

Physical damage

Vibration and impact damage can result in external and/or internal damage. External vibration/abrasion damage can be evident on the skin of early season 'Hass' fruit that do not darken completely during ripening and on cultivars that remain green during ripening, but is difficult to detect on late season dark-skinned 'Hass' (Arpaia et al. 1987). Vibration/abrasion damage is more extensive when applied to soft fruit, often resulting in internal symptoms of inconsistent texture, flesh adhesion to the skin, and darkening of injured tissue (Arpaia et al. 1987). Bruising from impact damage is more prevalent in early season 'Hass' than in fruit harvested later in the season (Arpaia et al. 1987), and likewise the colour of the bruise is more intense when the damage is applied to softer fruit. While these results suggest that the severity of physical damage is due more to the ripeness/softness than maturity *per se*, the propensity for late season fruit to ripen quicker may render these fruit more prone to damage, especially if the fruit soften appreciably during the early stages of the postharvest handling chain.

Storage potential

Storage potential is an issue for fruit that need to be stored for extended times at low temperatures, such as fruit intended for export, or fruit intended to extend the supply window to exploit late-season markets with premium prices. In South Africa, the main problems encountered for long-term storage of 'Fuerte' are premature softening and disorders such as mesocarp discoloration, pulp spot and vascular browning (Cutting & Wolstenholme 1991, 1992). Storage potential of this cultivar is considered most problematic in early and late season fruit, with 'Fuerte' considered more problematic than 'Hass' (Cutting & Wolstenholme 1991, 1992). For New Zealand 'Hass', maturity has to be carefully managed to reduce the incidence of disorders and rots in export markets (Dixon et al. 2003).

Other pre- and postharvest factors

Maturity is not the only factor that affects the ripening characteristics and eventual outturn quality of avocados in the marketplace, as many of the aspects of quality reviewed in previous sections are also strongly affected by orchard and postharvest handling practices (Bower 1988; Arpaia 1989; Vuthapanich et al. 1995; Hofman et al. 2001). Orchard factors and harvest maturity predispose the fruit to develop rots and disorders, while postharvest factors such as storage time, temperature, and ripening rate influence the level of expression of rots and disorders in batches of fruit predisposed to developing these defects. It is also important to consider that harvesting the fruit at the optimum maturity only captures the quality potential of the fruit, and that stringent postharvest practices are also required to ensure that this potential eventuates as an acceptable quality in the marketplace. The importance of postharvest handling practices for maintaining avocado quality is recognised in the Avocare program, which was implemented to identify the practices that lead to poor quality in the marketplace (Hofman et al. 2001). This project identified several factors that could be improved, such as better control of rots by growers and packers, reducing the time from picking to consumption, and implementation of packaging and procedures to reduce bruising.

COMMERCIAL HARVEST INDICES AND STANDARDS

Previous sections reviewed the effect of maturity on the quality of avocados, and highlighted some of the key biological changes that occur in the fruit during maturation. This section reviews how avocado industries use standards to manage maturity, and highlights the implications of these standards in the marketplace.

MATURITY STANDARDS AROUND THE WORLD

To date, the main maturity standards used in various parts of the world have been oil content, DM, moisture content, picking release dates that do not change from year to year, fruit diameter, and ripening tests. California led the world by introducing oil content as the first maturity standard, which was enforced through the Avocado Standardisation Bill implemented in 1925 (Christie 1939; Hodgkin 1939). The benefits of standardisation were soon recognised (Hodgkin 1928; Christie 1939; Hodgkin 1939) and similar standards, whether it be regulated by government or industry groups, were introduced in various countries. In Australia the first standard was introduced in Queensland in 1966 based on an oil content of 15% for 'Fuerte', 'Edranol', 'Zutano', 'Rincon', and 10% oil for other cultivars (Hope 1963; Lewis 1978).

Dry matter has largely replaced oil content as the most common maturity standard for avocado producers around the world (Table 5). Dry matter is considered more rapid, cheaper, safer (no toxic solvents required), lower-technology, and more suited to growers or packhouses for monitoring maturity than oil content (Lewis 1973; Swarts 1978; Morris & O'Brien 1980; Lee et al. 1983; Ranney et al. 1992). The South African industry uses moisture content rather than DM as a harvest index, although both components are inversely related (total fruit mass = DM + moisture content). In this report all moisture content values are converted to DM equivalents to allow the South African data to be more easily compared with data from elsewhere. When comparing minimum DM standards from different parts of the world, most are based on the 20.8% standard derived from sensory studies in California (Lee et al. 1983; Ranney 1991). This Californian standard applies not only to fruit grown in the state, but also to fruit imported from other countries or fruit shipped from other states which are routinely checked for DM content on arrival. Thus, some countries have adopted the same minimum maturity standard as California to ensure their fruit are eligible for sale in this market. In these cases the standard is based on a marketing requirement, and does not consider that the relationship between DM content and fruit quality may differ across countries. Further sensory evaluation suggests that 20.8% DM is also suitable for Australia, although the relationships between DM and sensory acceptability can be variable (Spraggon et al. 1989). Countries such as South Africa have increased the standard to 25% to account for the reduced water content in drought conditions (McOnie & Wolstenholme 1982; Mans et al. 1995), while other countries such as New Zealand have a high DM standard of 24% to improve quality after long-term storage (Pak et al. 2003).

New Zealand also differs from other countries in its approach to managing fruit to fruit variation within early season fruit. The standard in New Zealand has a mean minimum DM for batches of fruit, but also stipulates that 18 out of the 20 fruit in maturity clearance samples must exceed 20.8% (Pak et al. 2003). Interestingly, the minimum DM of the fruit sample was shown to be the best indicator of the overall quality of batches of fruit (Pak et al. 2003). This approach should reduce the risk of mixing grossly immature fruit with other more acceptable

fruit in the marketplace, and is an approach that the Australian industry could also consider. Variability in the marketplace can cause consumer uncertainty over the probable edible quality of a purchase, and given that consumers usually only purchase a small number of fruit at any one time (average of 2 fruit in Australia (Mason 2005)), the impact of an undesirable fruit can be much greater than in other types of fruit where larger numbers are purchased (e.g. bags of apples or oranges).

The avocado industry in Florida is dominated by Antillean cultivars and Antillean-Guatemalan hybrids, which tend to have low-to-moderate oil content (Knight & Campbell 1999). Oil content was not recommended as an effective harvest index in Florida on the basis that oil content can vary considerably between fruit and across orchards and seasons, that there is only a small change in oil content for Antillean cultivars early in the maturation period, and there is too much variation in oil content across cultivars making it difficult to establish one standard as in California (Hatton et al. 1957b; Hatton et al. 1957a; Hatton et al. 1964). Despite all cultivars showing a close relationship between increased palatability and increased oil content during maturation, the observation that a low oil cultivar can be more palatable than a higher oil cultivar also contributed to the exclusion of oil content as a harvest index (Hatton et al. 1964). Palatability in these cultivars was shown to be more closely correlated with picking date and fruit size than oil content, with later picked fruit or larger fruit rated more palatable (Soule & Harding 1955). The current standard is based on release picking dates that do not change from year to year, in tandem with minimum fruit diameters, where fruit can only be picked after a release date and only if they exceed the specified size criteria (Hatton et al. 1964; Barmore 1976; Lewis 1978). This is followed by a series of other dates with lower size thresholds. While this system is complicated, it does have the advantages of coping with varietal and seasonal variation that fixed universal systems such as oil content and DM cannot cope with. This system is also advantageous in that complex maturity testing facilities are not required, and it is thought to better cope with variation in maturity caused by extended periods of fruit set (Lewis 1978). California also has a release date that does not change from year to year, with growers only permitted to harvest before this date if the DM standard is met (Arpaia et al. 2001).

Australia is one of few avocado industries in the world that use a ripening test to determine the minimum maturity of avocados in tandem with dry matter. The ripening test entails placing 5-10 representative fruit at room temperature and assessing the quality of the fruit once ripe (Newett et al. 2001). The fruit are considered mature for harvest if they ripen without shrivelling to a good flavour within 7-12 days. The problem with this ripening test is that it can be a lengthy and variable process for early season fruit not treated with ethylene, and the time required to determine if the fruit are acceptable could delay the commercial harvest so that early market premiums are missed.

All the maturity standards discussed so far in this section have focused on minimum maturity standards to exclude immature fruit. Overmaturity can also be problematic for quality, especially for growers wanting to supply fruit late in the season when prices can be high. However, both DM and oil content are unreliable markers of this stage of development in Australia and other countries, mainly because the accumulation of these components cease or start to decline before the fruit are considered overmature (Erickson et al. 1970-71; Hofman et al. 2000). Thus, research is required to identify new harvest indices that exclude overmature fruit.

	Reference	(Brown & Trout 1986; Newett et al. 2001)	(Arpaia et al. 2001)	(www.avosource.com)	(Barmore 1976; Lewis	1978; Knight & Campbell 1999)	(www.avosource.com)	(www.avosource.com)	(Pak et al. 2003)		(www.avosource.com)	(Swarts 1978)
	% 'Hass' of total avocado production	75	95	93	NA – dominated by	cultivars of different geographical origin	32	95	98		100	36
	Drying temperature for DM	100-110 °C	60-65 °C	*	NA		*	*	60 °C		*	70-75 °C
im maturity standards in the main avocado producing countries.	Sample size for DM	5-10 fruit	2 sets of 5 fruit	*	NA		*	*	20 fruit		*	10 fruit
	Tissue sampling method for DM	100 g of grated flesh from opposing longitudinal quarters	Hofshi coring machine; 15.88 mm diameter flesh sample from opposing sides of the fruit equator (4-6 g)	*	NA		*	*	20 g of flesh peelings from	one longitudinal quarter of fruit	*	3 x 10 g grated flesh from longitudinal sections
	Minimum maturity standard	21% DM for all cultivars, and ripening test	Harvest release date and 20.8% DM for 'Hass'	23% DM	Harvest release	date and fruit diameter	22% DM	20.8% DM	24% DM for	'Hass' (18/20 fruit > 20.8%)	21.5% DM	25% DM
Table 5. Minimu	Country	Australia	California, USA	Chile	Florida, USA		Israel	Mexico	New Zealand		Peru	South Africa

DM = dry matter NA = not applicable * = Information not available \odot The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd 2006

20

SOURCES OF VARIATION IN DRY MATTER AND IMPLICATIONS FOR PICKING STRATEGIES

Factors such as cultivar, region, and orchard all affect the rate of DM accumulation in avocados (Requejo-Jackman et al. 2005). For instance, in the Bundaberg region in Australia, the commercial harvest season for 'Hass' occurs later than for 'Shepard'. In this region, over the course of six weeks from April to May 2004, DM content in 'Hass' from one orchard remained constant and in a second orchard increased rapidly from c. 21% to 29% before levelling off near the end of the production season in July (Figure 3a, Requejo-Jackman et al. 2005). Similarly, DM content in 'Shepard' fruit increased at different rates in the three orchards sampled so that DM varied from c. 20% to 27% at the final harvest (Figure 3b, Requejo-Jackman et al. 2005). In New Zealand during the 2003/2004 season, commercial harvest of 'Hass' started in the Far North and Te Puke regions around mid October (Figure 4a and b). Differences in the rate of DM accumulation were observed within and between regions. By the end of March 2004 (the end of the production season), the DM level rose to approximately 34% in the Far North and 38% in the Te Puke orchards sampled.

The DM content of avocados is affected by several pre- and postharvest factors (Table 6). In Queensland, considerable variation in DM can occur for fruit from different orchard locations, and for fruit from different trees within orchards (Marques et al. 2006). Fruit aspect on the tree has also been shown to affect the DM content in New Zealand, where DM is lower in fruit from shaded parts of the tree, although the magnitude of this effect is variable and likely to depend on factors that govern the amount of light interception on the fruit such as tree size, spacing and canopy density (Hofman & Jobin-Decor 1999; Woolf et al. 1999). The presence of defects such as sunburn and ringneck can also increase DM content, as can postharvest conditions that affect the rates of water loss and respiration (Hofman & Jobin-Decor 1999). Environmental conditions such as drought are also known to increase the DM content of South African fruit (Mans et al. 1995). The extended duration and timing of fruit set also influences DM accumulation in 'Pinkerton' in South Africa, with early set fruit being smaller and having higher DM than later set fruit (Sippel et al. 1994). Similarly in Australian 'Hass', small fruit tend to have more DM than larger fruit (Hofman & Jobin-Decor 1999). In these instances it would appear that fruit size may not be a good marker of maturity, and raises the question as to which size fruit should be picked early in the harvest season. This is in contrast to the results obtained in Florida, where larger fruit are picked first on the basis that flavour generally increases with fruit size (Harding 1954; Soule & Harding 1955). Despite smaller Australian fruit having higher DM content than larger fruit, it is not clear if these small fruit are actually physiologically more mature or if they taste different from larger fruit. Further studies are required to clarify if small fruit from the early fruit set period are physiologically more mature than larger later set fruit. If this relationship is confirmed then new picking strategies based on fruit size may be required for early season fruit. However, if this relationship is not confirmed, then it raises the issue of how valid DM is as a marker of immaturity in Australian avocados.

Not only is there fruit-to-fruit variation to consider, but there is also considerable evidence that there are DM gradients within fruit. These gradients occur from the skin to the seed (external to internal gradient), and longitudinally when comparing the stem and distal ends (Schroeder 1985, 1987). These gradients may explain why some parts of the fruit ripen at different rates, and highlight the importance of standardised tissue sampling techniques when determining DM for maturity (see page 26 for tissue sampling techniques).



Figure 3. Percentage dry matter (DM) of 'Hass' and 'Shepard' avocados harvested from the Bundaberg region in Australia during 2004 (Requejo-Jackman et al. 2005). Each point is the mean of three replicates of 20 fruit. Vertical bars = Standard errors of mean.



Figure 4. Percentage dry matter (DM) of 'Hass' avocados harvested from the Far North and Te Puke regions in New Zealand during 2003/2004 (Requejo-Jackman et al. 2005). Each point is the mean of three replicates of 20 fruit. Vertical bars = Standard errors of mean.

This section highlights that DM is affected by several factors, and reinforces the need to standardise sampling procedures from orchards so that the sample reflects 1) the maturity of the fruit intended for harvest, and 2) the probable quality of the batch of fruit in the marketplace. Failure to standardise sampling strategies will result in more variable estimates of the "true" DM content, and the delivery of fruit to the marketplace with quality characteristics that do not match the at-harvest specifications. This variation could then undermine the intent and value of the minimum maturity standard, and reduce the confidence of grower and marketers in the ability to deliver premium quality fruit to the marketplace.

Factor	Range in DM %	Cultivar	Country	Reference
Different orchard	26.7–29.7	'Hass'	Australia	(Marques et al.
locations in south-				2006)
east Queensland				
Means for individual	25-30	'Hass'	Australia	(Marques et al.
trees within orchards	28-30			2006)
	25-35			
Individual fruit	22-32	'Hass'	Australia	(Marques et al.
within orchards	25-35			2006)
	22-37			
Gradients within	22.1-30.2	'Hass'	California	(Schroeder
individual fruit	20.7-30.1			1985)
	18.5-29.5			
	19.6-28.0			
	20.8-32.5			
	20.0-29.5			
Fruit size	20-23 (large)	'Hass'	Australia	(Hofman &
	20-24 (medium)			Jobin-Decor
	22-25 (small)			1999)
Fruit defects	21.3 (no defects)	'Hass'	Australia	(Hofman &
	22.6 (ring neck)			Jobin-Decor
	22.9 (sunburn)			1999)
Aspect to sun	Early to mid harvest:	'Hass'	New	(Woolf et al.
	26.8 (shade) – 28.2 (sun)		Zealand	1999)
	Late harvest:			
	40.8 (shade) – 49.2 (sun)			
Fruit set timing	24-27 August set	'Pinkerton'	South	(Sippel et al.
	22-26 September set		Africa	1994)
	20-25 October set			
	20-25 Control set			
Postharvest RH	22 (40% RH)	'Hass'	Australia	(Hofman &
before DM	21.5 (60% RH)			Jobin-Decor
assessment	20.5 (80% RH)			1999)
	20.5 (100% RH)			

Table 6. Variation in avocado dry matter (DM) caused by orchard and sampling factors.

RH = relative humidity

IMPORTANT FEATURES OF HARVEST INDICES AND STANDARDS

Harvest indices are important for giving growers and marketers of avocados the confidence to produce a standard of quality that meets or exceeds consumer expectations, and is sufficiently robust to preclude the selling of unacceptable early or late season fruit into markets offering premium prices. To be commercially successful, harvest indices need to satisfy a number of factors. The first is that harvest indices need to determine the minimum and maximum maturity of fruit reliably across regions, states and seasons. This is essential to avoid the defects and sensory problems associated with immaturity and overmaturity. One argument is that each region could have different maturity standards, as the fruit produced in each region are likely to differ physiologically, which in turn may affect maturation rates and eating quality. However, this approach would not take into account the microclimate effects within regions, and that some orchards may share more similarities with fruit produced in other regions than those produced in the same region. Also, from an industry perspective it may be difficult to implement and regulate different standards in different regions (Ranney 1991).

23

© The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd 2006

Another important feature of a harvest index is that it should be based on a physiological change that reflects cessation in growth processes and the initiation of ripening. Given that oil and DM accumulation is a continuous process between the growth and maturation phases of development, it reflects neither the cessation of growth nor the initiation of maturation. It is suggested that oil may not be a reliable marker of physiological maturity because it is a storage product rather than an active metabolite, and that the rate of oil accumulation will reflect growing conditions more than physiological age (Bean 1956). Thus, while DM is better than having no standard, it may be advantageous to develop new maturity indices that better reflect the physiological changes essential for maturation and ripening.

The last feature is that harvest indices need to be easy to implement within an industry infrastructure, they need to be enforceable, and have robust sampling protocols to ensure the measure is a true reflection of the fruit intended for harvest. This is one aspect where DM is suitable, since it is a cheap, rapid and non-toxic method that growers can use to monitor However, continued efforts are required to ensure sampling strategies are maturity. standardised to account for DM variation within lines of fruit. It is also important that procedures are in place to enforce the standards, and that the penalties for non-compliance are sufficient to offset any financial advantages of selling immature or overmature fruit. The Californian minimum maturity standard is enforced through the Avocado Inspection Program administered by the Californian Department of Food and Agriculture (Arpaia et al. 2001). This standard applies to all fruit produced and sold in California, and includes fruit shipped from other states and countries. The Californian inspectors have the authority to reject lines of fruit for sale in California if standards are not met, and either destroy the fruit or send them for processing. In New Zealand, the minimum maturity standard is monitored by industry consultants (AGFIRST) on behalf of the New Zealand Avocado Industry Council, with the standard legally enforced through the New Zealand Horticultural Export Authority (HEA). This standard applies only to export fruit and does not include domestic fruit. In Australia, the minimum maturity standards and measurements protocols are specified in the Avocado Information Kit (Newett et al. 2001). These standards are no longer under government control for domestic and export fruit, with maturity monitoring voluntarily done by growers and some packhouses. There are currently no legally enforceable penalties in Australia for growers that do not meet these standards.

MARKET IMPLICATIONS OF THRESHOLDS USED IN MATURITY STANDARDS

Standards for minimum maturity are regarded as essential in many countries to prevent growers from selling immature fruit early in the season when returns are high (Lewis et al. 1979). The disadvantage of this system is that it reduces the opportunity for growers to sell fruit into premium markets, on the basis that the fruit fails the minimum standard, yet could be genuinely palatable and be free from defects. Thus, the minimum standard has to be delicately balanced to be high enough to reduce the risk of selling immature fruit, while at the same time not being so high that market premiums are missed. The problem of having a minimum maturity standard that is set too low was highlighted in California by inspectors, where some fruit were repeatedly measured and met the 8% oil content (Wilson 1939). An issue with setting the minimum maturity standard too high is that it will shorten the early season supply window, which may force growers to exploit the late season market window to achieve premium prices. Because overmaturity is difficult to measure, there is increased risk of fruit being sold that is rancid and inundated with defects (Erickson 1964; Erickson et al. 1970-71). Another factor to consider is that the early and late season fruit may be competing

with fruit from other regions, cultivars or countries which may have fewer maturity related problems.

TECHNOLOGIES FOR ASSESSING MATURITY

DRY MATTER

Dry matter is the one of the main harvest indices used to determine avocado maturity. The DM content should reflect the maturity of the fruit intended for harvest, so robust sampling strategies are required to account for fruit-to-fruit variation within orchards, blocks and trees. It also known that DM content changes after harvest, which means that if an at-harvest measure is required, then assessments need to be made as close to harvest as possible and precautions need to be taken to avoid changes from water loss or respiration. The number of fruit sampled is important to ensure a good representation of maturity in the orchard, with larger fruit numbers increasing the chances of obtaining a representative orchard or block DM value (Hofman & Jobin-Decor 1999). A comparison of countries (Table 5) suggests that New Zealand samples the largest number of fruit, 20 fruit per line, while many countries only sample 5-10 fruit. In addition, New Zealand also samples on a "block" basis, meaning that a number of samples may be required from one orchard. It is recommended that the fruit are maintained in plastic bags to reduce water loss between harvest and assessment of DM, and that fruit are harvested early in the day when fully hydrated (Woolf et al. 2003).

Detailed protocols for DM assessment in avocados have been published in most countries (Swarts 1978; Lee & Coggins 1982b; Brown & Trout 1986; Arpaia et al. 2001; Woolf et al. 2003). The basic procedure involves the removal of samples of flesh from each fruit which are then weighed, and dried, allowing calculation of the % DM as dry weight / fresh weight x 100. Despite the simplicity of this procedure, there is considerable variation around the world in how each of these steps is achieved. Flesh sampling strategies include sampling from opposing eights cut longitudinally (Arpaia et al. 2001), opposing quarters cut longitudinally (Brown & Trout 1986), one longitudinal quarter (Pak et al. 2003), or equatorial samples from the Hofshi coring system (Arpaia et al. 2001). The Hofshi coring machine (Figure 5) removes equatorial flesh samples ("cores" or "plugs") of 15.8 mm diameter, and is increasingly being used around the world because it gives statistically similar results to the more traditional opposing eighths method, yet it is faster, safer, less cumbersome, and less prone to samplinginduced variation from DM gradients in the fruit (Arpaia et al. 2001; Woolf et al. 2003). However, New Zealand has not adopted the Hofshi coring system at this point, as it may underestimate DM in early season fruit (Woolf pers. comm.). All skin and seed tissue is removed to ensure the results are for flesh tissue only, and any larger pieces of tissue are cut or grated into smaller slices (not required for Hofshi system). The fruit samples are analysed separately to identify the amount of variation between fruit, or the tissues from each fruit pooled (5, 10, 20 or 100 grams) to give a mean batch value only (Swarts 1978; Brown & Trout 1986; Arpaia et al. 2001; Pak et al. 2003). The samples are then dried using ovens, dehydrators, or microwaves until a constant dry weight is obtained, being careful to use a temperature and duration combination that will not burn the sample (Woolf et al. 2003). A temperature of 60-65°C is most common, while some protocols recommend temperatures above 100°C (Brown & Trout 1986). This overview highlights that there are many variations in the steps used to determine DM. Further research is required to determine how important these variations are for Australian growers, and then on the basis of this research, to decide whether one standardised protocol should be established.



Figure 5. Hofshi avocado coring system (photos from Arpaia et al. 2001).

OIL CONTENT

Determination of lipid content is both time consuming and expensive, and can be determined by a range of techniques (Requejo-Tapia 1999). The refractometric index (RI) method was developed in 1929 using Halowax® oil (monochloronaphtalene) as the solvent, and became the official method for determining total lipid percentage in California (Lesley & Christie 1929). However, because of inconsistency of readings which are easily influenced by temperature, and equipment costs, this method was considered inconvenient for growers. RI

© The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd 2006

methods are also of questionable accuracy especially when testing ripe fruit. In addition, Halowax® is a suspected carcinogen and is no longer available (Lee 1981a, b).

A Soxhlet technique using petroleum ether (a non-polar solvent – hexane) is the standard method for analysing lipid content in foods. This method can take up to 12 hours and automated systems usually only run eight samples at a time. In addition, the tissue has to be previously dried. Thus, this technique is considered too slow for the industry to be used as a routine test.

An adaptation of the Gerber method originally developed for the dairy industry showed accuracy in the determination of total lipids in avocados (Rosenthal et al. 1985). However, it not only uses a combination of flammable and dangerous solvents, but as it is an adaptation, it uses equipment used for assessing fat levels in dairy products, equipment that is not always available to the horticulture industry. Several lipid extraction methods originally developed for animal products have been used for determination of total lipid in avocados with relative success. This is the case for methods requiring chloroform/methanol (Folch et al. 1957; Bligh & Dyer 1959). However, large sample size, large volumes of solvent, a relatively high level of difficulty, and slow techniques are the main inconveniences of these methods.

Lewis et al. (1978) compared four methods of analysing lipid content of avocados including the Soxhlet method (using petroleum ether), homogenisation with petroleum ether, the Bligh and Dyer (1959) technique and the refractometric method using Halowax® oil. On average, results showed that chloroform/methanol and the refractometric method gave 5-8% higher lipid yields than the other two methods. The researchers concluded that chloroform/methanol is sufficiently polar to release some protein–bound lipids, probably comprising phospholipids and glycolipids, and that the similar results with Halowax® oil may have been due to the prolonged ball milling rather than solvent polarity.

More recently an Accelerated Solvent Extraction (ASE® 300 Dionex Corporation) system using high grade hexane has been trialled for determining the oil content of avocados. Oil yields obtained with this system are comparable to the standard Soxhlet technique (Requejo-Jackman 2005, unpublished data). With the ASE system, the dried tissue sample is grounded to a fine powder, placed inside a stainless steel cell and subjected to five extraction cycles. An extraction cycle consists of filling the cell with hexane at high pressure (1500 psi) using high purity nitrogen gas (oxygen free), applying moderate heat (60°C) and holding the cell in these conditions for 20 minutes. The main advantage of this technique is the reduced extraction time in comparison with the Soxhlet technique (<2 hours v. 12 hours respectively).

As described before, the amount of total lipids extracted in avocado could depend on the extraction technique employed and it is for these reasons that oil content as a measure of maturity has been largely replaced by DM. Dry matter is seen as a less complicated and more rapid alternative to oil content, and both variables are closely related, through oil being a major component of DM. Studies have also identified the extent of variation in oil content caused by preharvest factors such as fruit size, positioning on the tree, irrigation practices climate and growing regions (Hatton et al. 1957a; Lahav & Kalmar 1977; Lawes 1980; Lee et al. 1983; Hopkirk 1989).

NON-DESTRUCTIVE ASSESSMENTS

Non-destructive technologies are considered the future of maturity and quality management in many horticultural industries. Non-destructive technologies potentially allow individual fruit to be measured and sorted so that fruit of more uniform maturity and quality are delivered to

the marketplace. These technologies also have the potential to be used by growers to monitor and profile the maturation patterns of different orchards, blocks, or trees so that more effective and targeted picking strategies can be devised. Knowledge on the maturation rates of different blocks of fruit could also be used to develop marketing plans based on preliminary knowledge of the probable harvest dates.

The potential of nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) for avocados was first realised in destructive studies of dehydrated pieces of flesh, where NMR was strongly correlated with oil content (by Soxhlet) and DM for several cultivars (0.93-0.98 for 'Hass', over three seasons) (Barry et al. 1983). This technology was then advocated as being a faster and less toxic method than other solvent-based methods for determining oil content. Further advances in this technology allowed the oil content and DM to be measured on intact fruit moving through a prototype system at 250 mm/s (Chen et al. 1996). Although having advantages such as accuracy, simplicity and fast determination, NMR involves high equipment costs (Barry et al. 1983; Bergh et al. 1989). Nevertheless, this technology shows considerable potential for online sorting of fruit in packhouses at some future date.

Near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy has also shown good potential for non-destructively assessing maturity in 'Hass', with the interactance mode being more effective than reflectance, and a general trend for decreasing effectiveness in prediction of DM as the harvest season progresses (Clark et al. 2003). These results suggest that NIR maybe more effective as an early season tool for removing immature fruit, rather than for removing overmature fruit late in the season. However, DM is not a reliable marker of overmaturity and NIR may yet prove to be of value in this respect. Another attractive characteristic of NIR is that the technology is suitable for on-line sorting in packhouses (e.g. Compac Grading Systems, New Zealand), and for portable units (FQA-NIRGUN, Fruit Quality Analyser, FANTEC, Japan; and Kerry Walsh, University of Queensland-Rockhampton), which could allow the rapid uptake of this technology once the basic underlying algorithms are refined for this crop.

Other non-destructive techniques based on skin colour, absorption of short-wave radiation, and heat capacity and transfer, were all unsuccessful at detecting changes in maturity (Bean 1962). Later studies showed that ultrasound has potential for non-destructively assessing maturity, although its applicability for on-line sorting is yet to be demonstrated (Mizrach et al. 1999, 2001). The electrical impedance of the flesh also changes during maturation (Bean 1962); however, this study required probes to be inserted into the fruit and further studies are required to determine if this technique can be performed in a non-destructive sense. Microwave sensors, such as those used within the US Grain Industry for determining moisture content in homogeneous grain samples, have also been explored for use with fruit. However, their high moisture content and the presence of thick skins and seeds, each of which affects the dielectric properties of the sample, present unique problems which currently have not been overcome (Clark, unpublished data). Fruit density decreases during maturation, but this decrease it considered too variable for density to be a reliable harvest index (Hatton & Campbell 1959). Further studies with 'Hass' have also shown that whole fruit density (as can be measured by flotation) is poorly related to DM content (Clark et al. 2006).

CONCLUSIONS

This report has shown that maturity is a key factor for producing the quality of avocados expected by consumers. Maturity influences sensory quality, the ripening characteristics, and the susceptibility of fruit to develop rots and disorders during ripening. Thus, it is important that avocado industries continue to develop and regulate harvest indices, so that immature and overmature fruit are excluded from the marketplace. This report highlights that DM, the most common harvest index for avocados, is influenced by many pre- and postharvest factors and is only moderately associated with sensory acceptability.

Despite these limitations, a minimum standard based on DM is better than no standard, as it can remove grossly immature fruit that are at risk of developing rots and disorders in the marketplace. Industry has the option of increasing the minimum DM standard to reduce the risk of supplying immature fruit. However, this will have the adverse consequences of not allowing growers to exploit premium prices in early season markets when their fruit may be genuinely acceptable. If the industry wants to push the boundaries in early and late season markets, then new, more reliable harvest indices are required for each cultivar. This will require new research into understanding the biological drivers for taste and the factors that predispose the fruit to developing rots and disorders during ripening. This research could also allow growers to differentiate their fruit from other producers on the basis of taste.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Short term recommendations:

- It should be determined if the current quality problems in the marketplace can be attributed to maturity, or if they are caused by other pre- and postharvest factors. If maturity is established as one of the main problems for poor quality, then it needs to be determined if this is because of lack of compliance to current maturity standards, or because the current standards are inadequate.
- The industry needs to establish which aspects of fruit quality drive consumer purchasing behaviour in target markets, and which of these aspects can be enhanced to improve loyalty and purchase frequency.
- Consideration needs to be given to the New Zealand approach of managing fruit variation in early season fruit, where growers need to comply with both a mean standard and a standard that stipulates that 18/20 fruit must exceed a specified lower threshold.
- A review of the minimum maturity standard (21%) should be carried out in the light of the significantly higher standards in other countries, and in particular the suggested move of California from 20.8% to 23%. Decisions on minimum maturity standards need to consider the balance of being high enough to exclude most immature fruit, while not being so high that opportunities for premium prices in early season markets are lost. This decision will require industry to make a market-based decision on the maximum number of immature fruit that can be delivered to target markets that will not detrimentally affect the short and long-term reputation of Australian avocados.

Medium to long term recommendations:

- Identification of medium- and long-term target markets, and the quality standards required in these markets. If the industry wants to develop export markets, or exploit premium prices in domestic markets by extending the supply season, then long-term storage becomes an important factor and more stringent maturity standards will be required. However, if the fruit is to be stored short-term, ripened rapidly, and sold in a manner that ensures high stock turnover, then less stringent standards may be acceptable. This means that any future decisions on maturity standards need to consider carefully the quality requirements of the target market and the expected duration of the postharvest supply chain.
- Development of more reliable harvest indices to exclude immature and overmature fruit from the marketplace. Currently there are no harvest indices for overmaturity. Improved standards are also required for immaturity, as the current index (DM) is only moderately associated with sensory acceptability. This will require new sensory-based research that understands the biological basis of avocado acceptability. This area of research could also allow growers to differentiate their fruit from other producers on the basis of taste, and may allow optimisation of orchard practices to produce high taste fruit consistently. The importance of taste on consumer purchasing behaviour in target markets also needs to be determined.
- Improved understanding of the relationship between DM and other biological changes such as timing of fruit set, fruit size, growth rates and physiological maturity so that picking strategies can be based on multiple harvest indices. This could have implications for which fruit should be harvested early in the season. Most research to date has investigated each biological change individually, which oversimplifies the maturation process, and results in unreliable harvest indices. Furthermore, some of the biological changes that were originally discounted could be revisited using more modern and sensitive techniques, especially those associated with colour.

• Ongoing research in the development and commercialisation of non-destructive technologies for measuring maturity, particularly those that have shown early promise such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and near infrared spectroscopy (NIR). These lines of investigation need to be extended to evaluate on-line sorters in packhouses, and to evaluate portable devices for monitoring maturity in the orchard.

REFERENCES

- Adato I, Gazit S 1974. Postharvest Response of Avocado Fruits of Different Maturity to Delayed Ethylene Treatments. Plant Physiology 53(6): 899-902.
- Akamine EK, Goo T 1973. Respiration and ethylene production during ontogeny of fruit. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 98(4): 381-383.
- Arpaia ML 1989. Avocado fruit quality as influenced by preharvest cultural practices. California Avocado Society Yearbook 73: 49-52.
- Arpaia ML 2003. Hass maturity project, new project year 1 of 1 Department of Botany and Plant Sciences, University of California Riverside.
- Arpaia ML, Boreham D, Hofshi R 2001. Development of a new method for measuring minimum maturity of avocados. California Avocado Society Yearbook 85: 153-178.
- Arpaia ML, Mitchell FG, Katz PM, Mayer G 1987. Susceptibility of avocado fruit to mechanical damage as influenced by variety, maturity and stage of ripeness. Yearbook, South African Avocado Growers' Association 10: 149-151.
- Avocados-Australia 2005. 2005-2010 Strategic plan for the Australian avocado industry. Horticulture Australia and Avocados Australia.
- Barmore CR 1976. Avocado fruit maturity. In: Sauls JW, Phillips RL, Jackson LK ed. Proceedings of the first international tropical fruit short course: the avocado. Gainesville, Fruit Crops Department, Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida.
- Barry GA, Brown BI, Barker LR 1983. The use of low resolution nuclear magnetic resonance for determining avocado maturity by oil content. Journal of Food Technology 18(4): 401-410.
- Bean RC 1956. Biochemical reactions of avocados in relation to standards of maturity. California Avocado Society Yearbook 40: 148-151.
- Bean RC 1962. Avocado maturity studies: a discussion of possible applications of various physical measurements to non-destructive testing. California Avocado Society Yearbook 46: 94-99.
- Bergh B, Kumamoto J, Chen P 1989. Determining maturity in whole avocados. California Avocado Society Yearbook 73: 173-176.
- Bertling I, Bower JP 2005. Sugars as energy sources is there a link to avocado fruit quality. South African Avocado Growers Association Yearbook 28: 24-27.
- Bligh EG, Dyer WJ 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology 37: 911-917.
- Bower JP 1988. Pre- and postharvest measures for long-term storage of avocados. Yearbook, South African Avocado Growers' Association 11: 68-72.
- Brown BI 1984. Market maturity indices and sensory properties of avocados grown in Queensland. Food Technology in Australia 36(10): 474-476.
- Brown BI, Trout S 1986. Assessing avocado maturity on the farm Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Farm Note F135.
- Chen P, McCarthy MJ, Kim S, Zion B 1996. Development of a high-speed NMR technique for sensing maturity of avocados. Transactions of the ASAE 39(6): 2205-2209.
- Christie AW 1939. The importance of maturity in avocados. California Avocado Society Yearbook 24: 73-74.
- Clark C, White A, Jordan RB, Woolf A 2006. Can density sorting at harvest segregate avocados of differing maturity. Postharvest Biology and Technology Submitted.
- Clark CJ, McGlone VA, Requejo C, White A, Woolf AB 2003. Dry matter determination in 'Hass' avocado by NIR spectroscopy. Postharvest Biology and Technology. Pp. 301-308.

- Cox KA, McGhie TK, White A, Woolf AB 2004. Skin colour and pigment changes during ripening of 'Hass' avocado fruit. Postharvest Biology and Technology. Pp. 287-294.
- Cutting JGM, Wolstenholme BN 1991. Maturity effects on avocado postharvest physiology in fruits produced under cool environmental conditions. Yearbook South African Avocado Growers' Association 14: 24-26.
- Cutting JGM, Wolstenholme BN 1992. Maturity and water loss effects on avocado (*Persea americana* Mill.) postharvest physiology in cool environments. Journal of Horticultural Science 67(4): 560-575.
- Cutting JGM, Bower JP, Wolstenholme BN 1988. Effect of Harvest Date and Applied ABA on Polyphenol Oxidase Levels in Avocado (*Persea americana* Mill) Fruit. Journal of Horticultural Science 63(3): 509-515.
- Cutting JGM, Wolstenholme BN, Hardy J 1992. Increasing relative maturity alters the base mineral composition and phenolic concentration of avocado fruit. Journal of Horticultural Science 67(6): 761-768.
- Dixon J, Pak HA, Smith DB, Elmsley TA, Cutting JC 2003. New Zealand avocado fruit quality: the impact of storage temperature and maturity. Proceedings of the fifth world avocado congress: 647-652.
- Dool Bvd, Wolstenholme BN 1983. Further studies on avocado fruit growth and maturity in inland Natal. Yearbook, South African Avocado Growers' Association 6: 34-40.
- Eaks IL 1966. The effect of ethylene upon ripening and respiratory rate of avocado fruit. California Avocado Society Yearbook 50: 128-133.
- Eaks IL 1990. Change in the fatty acid composition of avocado fruit during ontogeny, cold storage and ripening. Acta Horticulturae(No. 269): 141-152.
- Erickson LC 1964. Avocado fruit growth and maturity. The California Citrograph 49: 306-307, 318, 320.
- Erickson LC 1966. Seed coat thickness: a guide to avocado maturity. The California Citrograph 51: 260-261.
- Erickson LC, Porter GG 1966. Correlations between cuticle wax and oil in avocados. California Avocado Society Yearbook 50: 121-127.
- Erickson LC, Eaks IL, Porter GG 1970-71. Over-maturity in Hass avocados. California Avocado Society Yearbook 54: 62-65.
- Folch J, Lees M, Stanley GHS 1957. A Simple Method for the Isolation and Purification of Total Lipids from Animal Tissues. Journal of Biological Chemistry 226: 497-509.
- Harding PL 1954. The relation of maturity to quality in Florida avocados. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 6: 276-280.
- Hatton TT, Campbell CW 1959. Evaluation of indices for Florida avocado maturity. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 72: 349-353.
- Hatton TT, Soule MJ, Popenoe J 1957a. Effect of the fruit position and weight on percentage of oil in lula avocados in Florida. Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science 69: 217-220.
- Hatton TT, Harding PL, Reeder WF 1964. Seasonal changes in Florida avocados. Market Quality Research Division, Agricultural Research Service, USDA.
- Hatton TT, Popenoe J, Soule MJ, Harding PL 1957b. Relation of maturity to certain chemical and physical characters in Florida avocados. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 70: 338-340.
- Hodgkin GB 1928. Oil testing of avocados and its significance. California Avocado Society Yearbook 12: 68-72.
- Hodgkin GB 1939. Avocado standardization. California Avocado Society Yearbook 24: 141-147.
- Hofman PJ, Jobin-Decor M 1999. Effect of fruit sampling and handling procedures on the percentage dry matter, fruit mass, ripening and skin colour of 'Hass' avocado. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology. Pp. 277-282.

- Hofman PJ, Jobin-Decor M, Giles J 2000. Percentage of dry matter and oil content are not reliable indicators of fruit maturity or quality in late-harvested 'Hass' avocado. HortScience. Pp. 694-695.
- Hofman PJ, Ledger SN, Stubbings BA, Adkins ME, Cook J, Barker J 2001. Avocado quality on the retail shelf: we all have a role to play. Australian and New Zealand avocado growers conference 2001. Bundaberg, Australia
- Hope T 1963. Quality tests identify best avocados. Queensland Agricultural Journal 89: 657-660.
- Hopkirk G 1989. Avocado maturity assessment. Division of Horticulture and Processing, DSIR.
- Kaiser C, Keevil SD, Levin J, Wolstenholme BN 1996. Towards improved maturity standards for Fuerte avocado fruit in the cool subtropical Kwazulu-Natal midlands. South African Avocado Growers Association Yearbook 19: 100-104.
- Kalala MB, Modi AT, Cowan AK 2005. Contribution of the seed to fruit development: a tool to understand avocado tree management and fruit maturity parameters. South African Avocado Growers Association Yearbook 28: 33-39.
- Kikuta Y, Erickson LC 1968. Seasonal changes of avocado lipids during fruit development and storage. California Avocado Society Yearbook 52: 102-108.
- Knight RJ, Campbell CW 1999. Ecological adaptation and the evolution of modern avocado cultivars. Revista Chapingo Serie Horticultura 5: 49-54.
- Lahav E, Kalmar D 1977. Water relations of Avocado in Israel II. Influence on yield, fruit growth and oil content. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 28: 869-877.
- Lawes GS 1980. Maturity and quality in avocados. Orchardist of New Zealand 53(2): 63-64.
- Lee SK 1981a. A review and background of the avocado maturity standard. California Avocado Society Yearbook 65: 101-109.
- Lee SK 1981b. Methods for percent oil analysis of avocado fruit. California Avocado Society Yearbook 65: 133-141.
- Lee SK, Coggins CW 1982a. Avocado taste test a preliminary study of regional differences. California Avocado Society Yearbook 66: 63-65.
- Lee SK, Coggins CW 1982b. Dry weight method for determination of avocado fruit maturity. California Avocado Society Yearbook 66: 67-70.
- Lee SK, Young RE, Schiffman PM, Coggins CW, Jr. 1983. Maturity studies of avocado fruit based on picking dates and dry weight. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 108(3): 390-394.
- Lesley BE, Christie AW 1929. Use of the Refractometric Method in Determination of Oil in Avocados. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry (Analytical Edition) 1: 24.
- Lewis CE 1973. Avocado maturity testing and tasting. Agricultural Gazette of New South Wales 84(6): 373.
- Lewis CE 1978. The maturity of avocados a general review. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 29(10): 857-866.
- Lewis CE, Dettmann EB, Battye W 1979. Use of Taste Panels in Evaluating the Maturity of NSW Avocados. Food Technology in Australia 31(9): 394-396.
- Liu X, Sievert J, Arpaia ML, Madore MA 2002. Postulated physiological roles of the sevencarbon sugars, mannoheptulose, and perseitol in avocado. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 127(1): 108-114.
- Liu X, Robinson PW, Madore MA, Witney GW, Arpaia ML 1999. 'Hass' avocado carbohydrate fluctuations. II. Fruit growth and ripening. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 124(6): 676-681.
- Mans CC, Donkin DJ, Boshoff M 1995. Maturity and storage temperature regimes for KwaZulu/Natal avocados. Yearbook - South African Avocado Growers' Association 18: 102-105.

- Marques JR, Hofman PJ, Wearing AH 2006. Between-tree variation in fruit quality and fruit mineral concentrations of Hass avocados. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 46(9): 1195-1201.
- Mason R 2005. Report on Australian consumer research. New Zealand and Australia Avocado Growers Conference '05. Tauranga, New Zealand
- McOnie AJ, Wolstenholme BN 1982. Avocado fruit growth and maturity in two Natal localities. Yearbook, South African Avocado Growers' Association 5: 74-77.
- Mizrach A, Flitsanov U, El-Batsri R, Degani C 1999. Determination of avocado maturity by ultrasonic attenuation measurements. Scientia Horticulturae. Pp. 173-180.
- Mizrach A, Flitsanov U, El-Batsri R, Degani C 2001. Preharvest maturity monitoring of avocado by ultrasonic technology. Acta Horticulturae(No.562): 181-186.
- Morris R, O'Brien K 1980. Testing avocados for maturity. California Avocado Society Yearbook 64: 67-70.
- Newett SA, Whiley T, Dirou J, Hofman PJ, Ireland G, Kernot I, Ledger S, McCarthy A, Miller J, Pinese B and others 2001. Avocado Information Kit. Agrilink Series QAL 9906. Department of Primary Industries, Queensland, Brisbane Australia.
- Pak HA, Dixon J, Cutting JC 2003. Influence of early season maturity on fruit quality in New Zealand 'Hass' avocados. Proceedings of the fifth world avocado congress: 635-640.
- Ranney C 1991. Relationship between physiological maturity and percent dry matter of avocados. California Avocado Society Yearbook 75: 71-85.
- Ranney C, Gillette G, Brydon A, McIntyre S, Rivers O, Vasquez CA, Wilson E 1992. Physiological maturity and percent dry matter of California avocado. Proceedings of the second world avocado congress: 379-385.
- Requejo-Jackman C, Wong M, Wang Y, Hofman PJ, Stubbings BA, Woolf A 2005. Assisting the Development of the Avocado Oil Industry in Australia and New Zealand. Report to Horticulture Australia Ltd, Project AV03007. HortResearch Client Report No. 5150. HortResearch Contract No. 18942.
- Requejo-Tapia LC 1999. International Trends in Fresh Avocado and Avocado Oil Production and Seasonal Variation of Fatty Acids in New Zealand Grown cv. 'Hass'. Unpublished Master Thesis in Applied Science in Agribusiness thesis, Massey University, New Zealand.
- Rosenthal I, Merin U, Popel G, Bernstein S 1985. An Analytical Assay for the Determination of Oil Content in Avocado. California Avocado Society Yearbook: 133-136.
- Schroeder CA 1953. Growth and development of the Fuerte avocado fruit. Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science 61: 103-109.
- Schroeder CA 1985. Physiological gradient in avocado fruit. California Avocado Society Yearbook 69: 137-143.
- Schroeder CA 1987. Physiological gradients in fleshy pericarp of avocado. Yearbook, South African Avocado Growers' Association 10: 32-34.
- Sippel AD, Holmes MA, Claassens NJF 1994. Avocado fruit maturity (cv. Pinkerton) as affected by fruitset period. Yearbook South African Avocado Growers' Association 17: 91-94.
- Soule MJ, Harding PL 1955. Relation of maturity of Florida avocados to physical characters. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 68: 303-308.
- Spraggon SA, Bagshaw JS, Ledger SN, Wells IA 1989. Eating quality and dry matter content of early season avocados NSW Department of Agriculture and Fisheries, Australia; Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Horticulture Postharvest Group, Australia.
- Stahl AL 1933. Avocado maturity studies. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 46: 123-133.
- Swarts DH 1978. Microwaves used in determining avocado maturity. Citrus and Subtropical Fruit Journal(No.535): 3-5, 14.

- Thorp TG, Hutching D, Lowe T, Marsh KB 1997. Survey of fruit mineral concentrations and postharvest quality of New Zealand-grown 'Hass' avocado (Persea americana Mill.). New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science. Pp. 251-260.
- Van Rooyen Z, Bower JP 2006. Effects of storage temperature, harvest date and fruit origin on post-harvest physiology and the severity of mesocarp discolouration in 'Pinkerton' avocado (Persea americana Mill.). Journal of Horticultural Science & Biotechnology 81(1): 89-98.
- Vorster LL, Toerien JC, Bezuidenhout JJ 1989. Factors involved in fruit quality. Yearbook -South African Avocado Growers' Association 12: 76-78.
- Vuthapanich S, Klieber A, Hofman PJ, Whiley AW, Simons DH 1995. Effects of production location in South-East Queensland on postharvest quality of 'Hass' avocado fruit. Proceedings of the third world avocado congress: 316-320.
- Watada AE, Herner RC, Kader AA, Romani RJ, Staby GL 1984. Terminology for the description of developmental stages of horticultural crops. HortScience 19(1): 20-21.
- White A, Woolf A, Hofman PJ, Arpaia ML 2005. The international avocado quality manual. Auckland, The Horticultural and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd. ISBN 0-478-06837-9. pp 73.
- White A, Woolf A, Hofman PJ, Arpaia ML 2006. The international avocado quality pocketbook. Auckland, The Horticultural and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd. ISBN 0-478-06837-9. pp 67.
- Wilson PK 1939. Importance of standardization of grades and maturity. California Avocado Society Yearbook 24: 52-53.
- Woolf A, Ferguson I, Requejo-Tapia LC, Boyd L, Laing W, White A 1999. Impact of sun exposure on harvest quality of 'Hass' avocado fruit. Revista Chapingo Serie Horticultura 5: 353-358.
- Woolf A, Clark C, Terander E, Phetsomphou V, Hofshi R, Arpaia ML, Boreham D, Wong M, White A 2003. Measuring avocado maturity; ongoing developments. Orchardist 76(4): 40-45.
- Woolf AB, Requejo-Tapia C, Cox KA, Jackman RC, Gunson A, Arpaia ML, White A 2005. 1-MCP reduces physiological storage disorders of 'Hass' avocados. Postharvest Biology and Technology. Pp. 43-60.
- Zauberman G, Schiffmann-Nadel M 1972. Respiration of whole fruit and seed of avocado at various stages of development. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 97(3): 313-315.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr Chris Clark for comments on this review, and also thank Emma Clegg, Sophia Koropas, Jane Clayton and Joanna Embry for assistance with information collation.